Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri




CHRISTINE SAXTON,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 11-1835 SP




)

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,
)

MO HEALTHNET DIVISION,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


We order the enrollment of Christine Saxton in the Department of Social Services, MO HealthNet’s (“the Department”) Title XIX Psychology Program.
Procedure

On September 13, 2011, Saxton filed a complaint challenging the Department’s decision to deny enrollment in its Title XIX Psychology Program.  On October 17, 2011, the Department moved to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.  We denied the motion on November 2, 2011.  The Department filed its answer on November 9, 2011, and filed another motion to dismiss on jurisdictional grounds, on December 28, 2011.  We denied that motion on January 13, 2012.  On January 23, 2012, we held a hearing.  Saxton appeared pro se.  Assistant Attorney General Matthew Laudano represented the Department.  The case became ready for our decision on 
April 23, 2012, when the Department informed us it did not intend to file a reply brief.
Findings of Fact

1. On or about October 28, 1997, Saxton committed the felony offense of endangerment of a child in violation of § 568.045,
 a felony.  The victims were S.S., N.P., and S.P.
2. Saxton made methamphetamine in her home for about a nine-month period around that time.  The three children listed above were in the home when she did so.  Saxton made the methamphetamine to use, but not to sell.

3. On October 29, 1997, S.S. was placed in the temporary legal custody of the Division of Family Services.

4. On February 6, 1998, a grand jury in Greene County, Missouri, charged Saxton with three counts of child endangerment as well as one count of production and manufacture of a controlled substance in violation of § 195.211.

5. On August 13, 1998, Saxton pled guilty to three counts of child endangerment.

6. On October 8, 1998, Saxton was sentenced to five years’ probation for the child endangerment offenses.  The controlled substance charge was dismissed.

7. Saxton was placed on the Family Care Safety Registry (“the Registry”).  The date of the offense on a report from the Registry is shown as October 28, 1997, the category of abuse/neglect is shown as “neglect,” and the severity of the offense is shown as “serious/severe.”  October 28, 1997 is also the date shown on the above-referenced indictment as the date when Saxton committed the offenses with which she was charged.
8. On January 4, 1999, Saxton was admitted to a residential substance abuse treatment center at Carol Jones Recovery Center for Women in Springfield, Missouri.  She was treated for substance abuse, self-esteem, codependency, and relationships with her children.  She was 
actively involved in outside networks of support such as Alcoholics Anonymous/Narcotics Anonymous and church.  She completed two levels of work, then graduated at a third level from the Recovery Center on July 1, 1999.
9. On March 30, 2000, the Greene County Juvenile Officer closed S.S.’s temporary legal custody case.

10. By March 2000, Saxton had enrolled in college.

11. Starting in 2001, Saxton worked as a SATOP facilitator and clinical director for Alternatives Counseling, Inc., in Springfield, Missouri.

12. On August 28, 2002, the circuit court granted Saxton an early discharge from her probation.

13. In December 2003, Saxton received a bachelor’s degree in social work from Missouri State University.

14. In May 2006, Saxton received a master’s degree in social work from Missouri State University.

15. Saxton was licensed by the Department of Insurance, Financial Institutions and Professional Regulation, Division of Professional Registration, State Committee for Social Workers as a licensed Clinical Social Worker (“LCSW”).  Her registration is valid through September 30, 2012.

16. Saxton was credentialed by the Missouri Substance Abuse Professional Credentialing Board as a Registered Substance Abuse Professional and an SATOP Qualified Professional.  Both credentials were set to expire on April 30, 2012.

17. Saxton has been employed in professional counseling positions from July 2007 until at least 2011.  In addition to the above-referenced SATOP work, Saxton’s counseling work has included counseling in corrections environments and as a drug court counselor.
18. On March 26, 2011, Saxton applied to the Department to perform services pursuant to the Department’s Children’s Treatment Services Program (“CTS”) under a contract with Gail’s Counseling Services in Joplin, Missouri.

19. The services provided by CTS are available to prevent child abuse and neglect and for treatment of the victims of abuse or neglect.  The purpose of those services is to re-establish or keep children in their own homes.

20. The Department approved Saxton’s application to provide CTS services prior to April 6, 2011.

21. On or about May 9, 2011, Saxton applied to the Department for enrollment in its Title XIX Psychology Program.  In her application, Saxton disclosed her 1998 criminal conviction.

22. By letter dated August 17, 2011, the Department denied Saxton’s request for enrollment.  The ground for denial stated in the letter was her 1998 child endangerment conviction.
23. At the hearing, Saxton admitted her crime and that she had manufactured methamphetamine in her home over a nine-month period while three children were in the home.

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear Saxton’s complaint.
  We decide the issue that was before the Department, which is the application.
  We exercise the same authority that has been granted 
to the Department.
  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.
  Our function in administrative review proceedings is to render the agency's final decision, exercising the same authority as the underlying agency.
  The appeal vests in this Commission the same degree of discretion as the Department, and we need not exercise it in the same way.
  Saxton has the burden of proof.
  
The Department’s Procedure in 
Considering Applications for Enrollment

The Department’s procedure in evaluating an application for enrollment as a MO HealthNet provider is set out in 13 CSR 70-3.020(4), as follows:

After investigation and review of the applying provider's provider enrollment application and application for provider direct deposit and consideration of all the information, facts, and circumstances relevant to the applications, including, but not limited to, a review of the applying provider's affiliates, the [Department], at its discretion, in the best interest of the MO HealthNet program, will make one (1) of the following determinations:

(A) Enroll the applying provider in an open-ended provider agreement; [or]

*   *   *

(C) Deny or limit the applying provider's enrollment for one (1) or more of the reasons in subsections (3)(A)-(Q).

Grounds for Denial of Enrollment

The Department’s Regulation 13 CSR 70-3.020(3) provides as follows regarding grounds for denial of enrollment:
The [Department], at its discretion, may deny or limit an applying provider's enrollment and participation in the MO HealthNet program for any one (1) of the following reasons:

*   *   *

(N) A previous or current conviction or a plea of guilty to a misdemeanor or felony charge, including any suspended imposition of sentence, any suspended execution of sentence, or any period of probation or parole relating to: 

1.  Endangering the welfare of a child; 

*   *   *

(O) Placement on the “Family Care Safety Registry” as mandated by sections 210.900-210.936, RSMo[.]

(Emphasis added.)  “May” means an option, not a mandate.
   The Department’s letter of August 17, 2011 informed Saxton that her application for enrollment in Mo HealthNet’s Title XIX Psychology Program was denied because of her convictions for endangerment of the welfare of a child.  No other reason was given.  The Department’s answer also states the same (and only) reason for the denial.  
But in the Department’s proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and argument, it alleges a second ground – Saxton’s placement on the Family Care Safety Registry.  Ordinarily, we would limit the Department to the charges made in its August 17, 2011 letter or in its answer.
  Here, however, Saxton introduced the issue by presenting her Exhibit 1, which documents that she was placed on the Registry for an offense committed on October 28, 1997.  Therefore, we consider the issue to have been tried by implied consent.
 
The indictment against Saxton alleged that she committed three counts of felony child endangerment on October 28, 1997.  Saxton’s Exhibit 1, documenting her placement on the Registry, does not state the date on which she was placed there, but it does state October 28, 1997, as the date she committed the offense for which was so placed.  We conclude that both documents refer to the same course of conduct, so Saxton’s placement on the Registry did not indicate the commission of an offense other than the one with which she was charged in the indictment.

We find there is cause to deny her application, but we have discretion to not do so, which we exercise below.

Consideration of an Applicant’s Criminal History 
While the issue of a provider’s enrollment in MO HealthNet despite a criminal conviction has not been presented to this Commission before, we, and the courts, have considered similar situations, in which a candidate for professional licensure was initially denied a license due to a criminal conviction.  In those cases, a number of factors were considered, including:  the nature and seriousness of the original conduct, the nature of the crimes pled, the relationship of the offenses to the profession for which licensure is sought, the date of the conduct and guilty pleas, the conduct of the applicant since then and since any release from imprisonment or probation, the applicant's reputation in the community, and any other evidence relating to the extent to which the applicant has repented and been rehabilitated.

A person with a criminal history may show rehabilitation by acknowledging guilt and embracing a new moral code.
   We have, in the past, found applicants for professional licensure 
with criminal histories,
 or who used illegal drugs,
 to be rehabilitated.  In all of those cases, the licensees candidly acknowledged past crimes or conduct and showed that they had embraced a new moral code.  The licensees took responsibility for their actions and demonstrated absolute honesty in admitting their mistakes.  The passage of time between the bad conduct and the license application was a factor, but not the only factor considered.  Along with the passage of time, these licensees presented evidence of progress at work or in school and changes in lifestyle.  We apply these factors to this case because they provide several ways of looking at a person’s qualifications and character in a situation such as this one.  
Applying the Above-listed Factors to this Case


In this case, Saxton’s conduct in 1997 was both criminal and involved a high risk of danger to the children in her house.  Her offense – felony child endangerment – is closely related to the work of mental health providers.  She acknowledged her guilt at the hearing without making any excuses, and demonstrated by her actions that she had rehabilitated herself.  Those actions include: 
· completing her course of substance abuse treatment in 1999;

· participating in Alcoholics Anonymous/Narcotics Anonymous, starting in 1999;

· regaining custody of her daughter in 2000;

· enrolling in college in 2000 and obtaining bachelor’s and master’s degrees in social work in 2003 and 2006 respectively;

· obtaining a license as a clinical social worker as well as credentials as a Registered Substance Abuse Professional and a SATOP Qualified Professional;
· working in professional counseling positions since 2007, particularly in corrections and substance abuse situations; and
· obtaining approval in 2011 to provide services pursuant to Children’s Treatment Services.
In particular, we note that in 1997 she was manufacturing methamphetamine in her house, with children present, while by 2011, she not only had bachelor’s and master’s degrees, but a license as a clinical social worker, credentials as a substance abuse professional, and Department approval to perform services under Children’s Protective Services contracts.  It has been well over 14 years since Saxton committed her crime and pled guilty to it.  In those 14 years, we see nothing to detract from the positive story her actions tell.

Finally, we note that our decision fully complies with both the letter and the spirit of the federal statutes and regulations applicable to Medicaid provider screening.

Conclusion

We are mindful of what Saxton seeks – to be admitted as a provider under MO HealthNet’s Title XIX Psychology program.  Title XIX, of course, refers to Title XIX of the Social Security Act,
 popularly referred to as Medicaid.  The purpose of Medicaid is “to provide services to needy persons whose income and resources are insufficient to meet the expenses of health care.”
  Encouraging providers of services to participate in the Medicaid program is a legitimate governmental interest.
  Of course, protecting those persons from the harm that could be done by a provider is also a legitimate governmental interest, but we were shown no evidence, other than her 14-year-old conviction, that Saxton would cause any such harm.

Therefore, we evaluate this case the way 13 CSR 70-3.020(4) provides, with “consideration of all the information, facts, and circumstances relevant” to Saxton’s application.  In this case, all the information, facts, and circumstances relevant to her application show that the crime she committed in 1997 is less relevant than her rehabilitation, her accomplishments in her 
profession, and her willingness to provide services to needy Missourians.  Therefore, we exercise our discretion and order her enrollment as a MO HealthNet provider.  
Summary

We order the Department to enroll Saxton in its Title XIX Psychology Program.  

SO ORDERED on May 4, 2012.


_________________________________



SREENIVASA   RAO   DANDAMUDI



Commissioner
�Statutory references are to RSMo 2011 Supp. unless otherwise indicated.


�“SATOP” refers to the Substance Abuse Traffic Offenders Program.  See § 302.540 and 9 CSR 30-3.206.


�Section 208.156.2 RSMo 2000.


�Department of Soc. Servs. v. Mellas, 220 S.W.3d 778 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).


�J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20 (Mo. banc 1990).


�State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Trueblood, 2012 WL 1080558, case # WD73875 (Mo. App., W.D., April 3, 2012); State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).


�Trueblood, 2012 WL 1080558 at *6.


�Finch, 514 S.W.2d at 614.


�Section 621.055.1.
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�See Dental Bd. v. Cohen, 867 S.W.2d 295, 297 (Mo. App., W.D. 1993); Sander v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 710 S.W.2d 896, 901 (Mo. App., E.D. 1986) (limiting scope of licensing proceedings to matters pleaded in complaint; we apply the rule here due to the similar nature of this action).


�See Cohen, 867 S.W.2d at 297-98 (implied consent rule applies when evidence presented bears solely upon unpleaded issue and not on issues already in the case).


�State Bd. of Regis'n for the Healing Arts v. De Vore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 484 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974); Newman v. Director of Dep't of Public Safety, No. 95-002538 PO (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Mar. 21, 1996).
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�42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(19), (39), and (77), as well as (kk)(1), which incorporates 42 U.S.C. § 1395cc(j)(2); 42 C.F.R. § 455.416.


�42 U.S.C. § 1396 et seq.


�Beverly Enters.- Missouri, Inc. v. Dep’t of Social Servs., 348 S.W.3d 337, 350 (Mo. App., W.D. 2008); Rolla Manor, Inc. v. Dep’t of Social Servs., 865 S.W.2d 812, 814-15 (Mo. App., S.D. 1993).
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